

①

1. INTRODUCTION

In the story of creation in the old Testament, it is reported that the Lord said "Let there be light" and there was light - and He saw that it was good.

"Let there be light" is a command, a major choice of things to be done - a statement of policy we may say.

"He saw that it was good" is an assessment of the results - perhaps the first recorded evaluation. Very satisfactory apparently.

"And there was light", however, poses a number of serious problems, for there is no information available regarding what processes, what steps, what resources, and what technology led from the policy through implementation to the evaluation. There is little guidance here for us. We must accept, and we do, that the Lord had the power, the means, and the know-how to implement His policy. Perhaps it is improper for us to ask questions.

For us mere mortals, with naturally limited powers both in command and resources, we have to be more specific, describing and achieving step-by-step if our policy is to result in a satisfactory outcome.

Nevertheless, there is something very noble, even sacred in the Declaration of Nations in our time that there should be "Health For All" in by Western chronology the year 2000, and closely associated to this aspiration safe drinking water and satisfactory sanitation by the end of the 1981-1990 Decade (International Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation Decade - IDWSSD).

Governments throughout the world have pledged themselves to these goals and have incorporated them in statements of national policy.

Now comes the hard part - what is to be done?

In this document, we are to examine the endeavours of the IDWSSD and what are some of the lessons to be learnt from the first half of this period.

There has been general agreement on Decade approaches. These have been stated as follows:

- (1) complementary sanitation and water supply development;
- (2) strategies that give precedence to underserved populations, both rural and urban;
- (3) programmes that will serve as a model for self-reliant, self-sustaining action;
- (4) use of socially relevant systems that people can afford;

- (5) association of communities in all stages of projects;
- (6) coordination of water supply and sanitation programme with those in other sectors; and
- (7) association of water supply and sanitation with other health improvement. x'

There is also a growing acknowledgement that "field results have been poor".

Three major problems are apparent:

- (1) the conceptual gap between people and planners;
- (2) the ~~the~~ emphasis on coverage rather than on the continued functioning and utilization of facilities; and
- (3) effective backup support to communities is often lacking, particularly after the completion of the project.

x²

x' Report by the Secretariat WHO/BMZ European Donor Consultation
Bern/Geneva Feb 1985

x² Achieving Success in Community Water Supply and Sanitation Projects
SEARO Regional Health Papers No. 9.

3

2. CLEAR STATEMENTS OF POLICY

The IDWSSD declarations have become for many countries the starting point for national statements of policy. The declarations and endorsement of approaches are a statement of good intentions, and set standards to be aimed at in the long term.

It should be noted however that in the main, these objectives and standards have originated from outside and have not ordinarily grown from a ground swell of expressed demand from within the nation.

Governments have many demands made upon them which they must attempt to meet. They have choices to make.

What priority do they intend to give to the IDWSSD in relation to all these other demands?

If policy statements aim to become a practical guide to action, they must go beyond general statements of intention.

^{derived}
Policy must be ... at for these purposes from a realistic examination of what a government judges they will actually have to work with and to choose between practical options in achieving the stated aims.

POLICY DERIVED FROM EXPECTATION RATHER THAN FROM JUDGEMENTS OF AVAILABLE RESOURCES

There are difficulties in arriving at sound judgements.

Commonly, some difficulties arise from external sources (the same sources from which the IDWSSD has been promoted):

- (1) the expectation that ambitious programmes will attract significant external funding;
- (2) that technologies and technical inputs (associated with the funding) will become available in some quantity.

(3) the pressure to provide a wide range of figures and percentages in the presentation of programme documents and proposals outruns the capacity to collect the numbers based on reliable data resulting in a false measure of fiction rather than fact on which to plan.

WHOSE POLICY, WHOSE PLAN?

Offered with the best intentions, this external assistance may well determine the very nature of a government's plans. The planning process itself may also become an alien exercise by the need to secure the assistance.

If this is the case, governments will find themselves faced with problems:

- (1) the funding (which is frequently earmarked for non-recurring capital costs) cannot be matched by the government's capacity to provide on-going costs (manpower salaries, expendable equipment, career benefits, pensions, etc);
- (2) the over-estimation of the ability to absorb new or more widely applied technology.

The technology is
often not suited to local conditions and difficult and costly to maintain with the available spare parts, running costs, technical skills, etc,

(3) the planning of projects which require resources and situations which cannot be replicated because they will be too expensive to provide country wide coverage.

4. (3) in situations where bureaucracies are highly centralized, and decision-making is dictated from above, the management capability of the administrative structure is too limited for the programme tasks, especially in effectively reaching rural or relatively isolated communities.

The external influences on governments must be tempered by a close look at where their country really stands economically, politically, organizationally and socially. While offers of assistance are to be welcomed, it should be made clear that assistance must be to assist the government with its own home-grown plans and development initiatives based on where a country stands and on demonstrated capability shown by past experience. *actually*

Such plans should provide an opportunity for donor organizations to "buy-a-piece-of-the-action" which the government is confident it will be able to absorb and sustain within its overall development process. It is not inconceivable that in the long-term, donors will raise their contributions given the confidence that a government's plans are firmly anchored in reality.

In relation to water and sanitation particularly, it is for governments to realistically decide:

what general level (or different levels for different situations) of safe drinking water and sanitation facilities they are aiming to achieve nationally?

where along a scale between absolute safe water and some significant improvement over present conditions is to be planned for?

xx in terms of equity, which areas merit greater investment than others?

xxx on a local scale, how best can the interests of the underserved be promoted?

x which areas of the country are most in need - need being determined how?

which areas are hydrologically well placed for technical innovation?

how much effort and resources are best spent on rehabilitating, improving or extending current facilities which might not require much in "hardware"

costs?

what conditions make it appropriate for expenditure on new systems utilizing new or newly available technologies to be introduced?

1 2 3 4 5 6
7 8 9 10 11 12
13 14 15 16 17 18
19 20 21 22 23 24
25 26 27 28 29 30
31 32 33 34 35 36
37 38 39 40 41 42
43 44 45 46 47 48
49 50 51 52 53 54
55 56 57 58 59 60
61 62 63 64 65 66
67 68 69 70 71 72
73 74 75 76 77 78
79 80 81 82 83 84
85 86 87 88 89 90
91 92 93 94 95 96
97 98 99 100 101 102
103 104 105 106 107 108
109 110 111 112 113 114
115 116 117 118 119 120
121 122 123 124 125 126
127 128 129 130 131 132
133 134 135 136 137 138
139 140 141 142 143 144
145 146 147 148 149 150
151 152 153 154 155 156
157 158 159 160 161 162
163 164 165 166 167 168
169 170 171 172 173 174
175 176 177 178 179 180
181 182 183 184 185 186
187 188 189 190 191 192
193 194 195 196 197 198
199 200 201 202 203 204
205 206 207 208 209 210
211 212 213 214 215 216
217 218 219 220 221 222
223 224 225 226 227 228
229 230 231 232 233 234
235 236 237 238 239 240
241 242 243 244 245 246
247 248 249 250 251 252
253 254 255 256 257 258
259 260 261 262 263 264
265 266 267 268 269 270
271 272 273 274 275 276
277 278 279 280 281 282
283 284 285 286 287 288
289 290 291 292 293 294
295 296 297 298 299 300
301 302 303 304 305 306
307 308 309 310 311 312
313 314 315 316 317 318
319 320 321 322 323 324
325 326 327 328 329 330
331 332 333 334 335 336
337 338 339 340 341 342
343 344 345 346 347 348
349 350 351 352 353 354
355 356 357 358 359 360
361 362 363 364 365 366
367 368 369 370 371 372
373 374 375 376 377 378
379 380 381 382 383 384
385 386 387 388 389 390
391 392 393 394 395 396
397 398 399 400 401 402
403 404 405 406 407 408
409 410 411 412 413 414
415 416 417 418 419 420
421 422 423 424 425 426
427 428 429 430 431 432
433 434 435 436 437 438
439 440 441 442 443 444
445 446 447 448 449 450
451 452 453 454 455 456
457 458 459 460 461 462
463 464 465 466 467 468
469 470 471 472 473 474
475 476 477 478 479 480
481 482 483 484 485 486
487 488 489 490 491 492
493 494 495 496 497 498
499 500 501 502 503 504
505 506 507 508 509 510
511 512 513 514 515 516
517 518 519 520 521 522
523 524 525 526 527 528
529 530 531 532 533 534
535 536 537 538 539 540
541 542 543 544 545 546
547 548 549 550 551 552
553 554 555 556 557 558
559 560 561 562 563 564
565 566 567 568 569 570
571 572 573 574 575 576
577 578 579 580 581 582
583 584 585 586 587 588
589 590 591 592 593 594
595 596 597 598 599 600
601 602 603 604 605 606
607 608 609 610 611 612
613 614 615 616 617 618
619 620 621 622 623 624
625 626 627 628 629 630
631 632 633 634 635 636
637 638 639 640 641 642
643 644 645 646 647 648
649 650 651 652 653 654
655 656 657 658 659 660
661 662 663 664 665 666
667 668 669 670 671 672
673 674 675 676 677 678
679 680 681 682 683 684
685 686 687 688 689 690
691 692 693 694 695 696
697 698 699 700 701 702
703 704 705 706 707 708
709 710 711 712 713 714
715 716 717 718 719 720
721 722 723 724 725 726
727 728 729 730 731 732
733 734 735 736 737 738
739 740 741 742 743 744
745 746 747 748 749 750
751 752 753 754 755 756
757 758 759 760 761 762
763 764 765 766 767 768
769 770 771 772 773 774
775 776 777 778 779 780
781 782 783 784 785 786
787 788 789 790 791 792
793 794 795 796 797 798
799 800 801 802 803 804
805 806 807 808 809 810
811 812 813 814 815 816
817 818 819 820 821 822
823 824 825 826 827 828
829 830 831 832 833 834
835 836 837 838 839 840
841 842 843 844 845 846
847 848 849 850 851 852
853 854 855 856 857 858
859 860 861 862 863 864
865 866 867 868 869 870
871 872 873 874 875 876
877 878 879 880 881 882
883 884 885 886 887 888
889 890 891 892 893 894
895 896 897 898 899 900
901 902 903 904 905 906
907 908 909 910 911 912
913 914 915 916 917 918
919 920 921 922 923 924
925 926 927 928 929 930
931 932 933 934 935 936
937 938 939 940 941 942
943 944 945 946 947 948
949 950 951 952 953 954
955 956 957 958 959 960
961 962 963 964 965 966
967 968 969 970 971 972
973 974 975 976 977 978
979 980 981 982 983 984
985 986 987 988 989 990
991 992 993 994 995 996
997 998 999 1000 1001 1002
1003 1004 1005 1006 1007 1008
1009 1010 1011 1012 1013 1014
1015 1016 1017 1018 1019 1020
1021 1022 1023 1024 1025 1026
1027 1028 1029 1030 1031 1032
1033 1034 1035 1036 1037 1038
1039 1040 1041 1042 1043 1044
1045 1046 1047 1048 1049 1050
1051 1052 1053 1054 1055 1056
1057 1058 1059 1060 1061 1062
1063 1064 1065 1066 1067 1068
1069 1070 1071 1072 1073 1074
1075 1076 1077 1078 1079 1080
1081 1082 1083 1084 1085 1086
1087 1088 1089 1090 1091 1092
1093 1094 1095 1096 1097 1098
1099 1100 1101 1102 1103 1104
1105 1106 1107 1108 1109 1110
1111 1112 1113 1114 1115 1116
1117 1118 1119 1120 1121 1122
1123 1124 1125 1126 1127 1128
1129 1130 1131 1132 1133 1134
1135 1136 1137 1138 1139 1140
1141 1142 1143 1144 1145 1146
1147 1148 1149 1150 1151 1152
1153 1154 1155 1156 1157 1158
1159 1160 1161 1162 1163 1164
1165 1166 1167 1168 1169 1170
1171 1172 1173 1174 1175 1176
1177 1178 1179 1180 1181 1182
1183 1184 1185 1186 1187 1188
1189 1190 1191 1192 1193 1194
1195 1196 1197 1198 1199 1200
1201 1202 1203 1204 1205 1206
1207 1208 1209 1210 1211 1212
1213 1214 1215 1216 1217 1218
1219 1220 1221 1222 1223 1224
1225 1226 1227 1228 1229 1230
1231 1232 1233 1234 1235 1236
1237 1238 1239 1240 1241 1242
1243 1244 1245 1246 1247 1248
1249 1250 1251 1252 1253 1254
1255 1256 1257 1258 1259 1260
1261 1262 1263 1264 1265 1266
1267 1268 1269 1270 1271 1272
1273 1274 1275 1276 1277 1278
1279 1280 1281 1282 1283 1284
1285 1286 1287 1288 1289 1290
1291 1292 1293 1294 1295 1296
1297 1298 1299 1300 1301 1302
1303 1304 1305 1306 1307 1308
1309 1310 1311 1312 1313 1314
1315 1316 1317 1318 1319 1320
1321 1322 1323 1324 1325 1326
1327 1328 1329 1330 1331 1332
1333 1334 1335 1336 1337 1338
1339 1340 1341 1342 1343 1344
1345 1346 1347 1348 1349 1350
1351 1352 1353 1354 1355 1356
1357 1358 1359 1360 1361 1362
1363 1364 1365 1366 1367 1368
1369 1370 1371 1372 1373 1374
1375 1376 1377 1378 1379 1380
1381 1382 1383 1384 1385 1386
1387 1388 1389 1390 1391 1392
1393 1394 1395 1396 1397 1398
1399 1400 1401 1402 1403 1404
1405 1406 1407 1408 1409 1410
1411 1412 1413 1414 1415 1416
1417 1418 1419 1420 1421 1422
1423 1424 1425 1426 1427 1428
1429 1430 1431 1432 1433 1434
1435 1436 1437 1438 1439 1440
1441 1442 1443 1444 1445 1446
1447 1448 1449 1450 1451 1452
1453 1454 1455 1456 1457 1458
1459 1460 1461 1462 1463 1464
1465 1466 1467 1468 1469 1470
1471 1472 1473 1474 1475 1476
1477 1478 1479 1480 1481 1482
1483 1484 1485 1486 1487 1488
1489 1490 1491 1492 1493 1494
1495 1496 1497 1498 1499 1500
1501 1502 1503 1504 1505 1506
1507 1508 1509 1510 1511 1512
1513 1514 1515 1516 1517 1518
1519 1520 1521 1522 1523 1524
1525 1526 1527 1528 1529 1530
1531 1532 1533 1534 1535 1536
1537 1538 1539 1540 1541 1542
1543 1544 1545 1546 1547 1548
1549 1550 1551 1552 1553 1554
1555 1556 1557 1558 1559 1560
1561 1562 1563 1564 1565 1566
1567 1568 1569 1570 1571 1572
1573 1574 1575 1576 1577 1578
1579 1580 1581 1582 1583 1584
1585 1586 1587 1588 1589 1590
1591 1592 1593 1594 1595 1596
1597 1598 1599 1600 1601 1602
1603 1604 1605 1606 1607 1608
1609 1610 1611 1612 1613 1614
1615 1616 1617 1618 1619 1620
1621 1622 1623 1624 1625 1626
1627 1628 1629 1630 1631 1632
1633 1634 1635 1636 1637 1638
1639 1640 1641 1642 1643 1644
1645 1646 1647 1648 1649 1650
1651 1652 1653 1654 1655 1656
1657 1658 1659 1660 1661 1662
1663 1664 1665 1666 1667 1668
1669 1670 1671 1672 1673 1674
1675 1676 1677 1678 1679 1680
1681 1682 1683 1684 1685 1686
1687 1688 1689 1690 1691 1692
1693 1694 1695 1696 1697 1698
1699 1700 1701 1702 1703 1704
1705 1706 1707 1708 1709 1710
1711 1712 1713 1714 1715 1716
1717 1718 1719 1720 1721 1722
1723 1724 1725 1726 1727 1728
1729 1730 1731 1732 1733 1734
1735 1736 1737 1738 1739 1740
1741 1742 1743 1744 1745 1746
1747 1748 1749 1750 1751 1752
1753 1754 1755 1756 1757 1758
1759 1760 1761 1762 1763 1764
1765 1766 1767 1768 1769 1770
1771 1772 1773 1774 1775 1776
1777 1778 1779 1780 1781 1782
1783 1784 1785 1786 1787 1788
1789 1790 1791 1792 1793 1794
1795 1796 1797 1798 1799 1800
1801 1802 1803 1804 1805 1806
1807 1808 1809 1810 1811 1812
1813 1814 1815 1816 1817 1818
1819 1820 1821 1822 1823 1824
1825 1826 1827 1828 1829 1830
1831 1832 1833 1834 1835 1836
1837 1838 1839 1840 1841 1842
1843 1844 1845 1846 1847 1848
1849 1850 1851 1852 1853 1854
1855 1856 1857 1858 1859 1860
1861 1862 1863 1864 1865 1866
1867 1868 1869 1870 1871 1872
1873 1874 1875 1876 1877 1878
1879 1880 1881 1882 1883 1884
1885 1886 1887 1888 1889 1890
1891 1892 1893 1894 1895 1896
1897 1898 1899 1900 1901 1902
1903 1904 1905 1906 1907 1908
1909 1910 1911 1912 1913 1914
1915 1916 1917 1918 1919 1920
1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1926
1927 1928 1929 1930 1931 1932
1933 1934 1935 1936 1937 1938
1939 1940 1941 1942 1943 1944
1945 1946 1947 1948 1949 1950
1951 1952 1953 1954 1955 1956
1957 1958 1959 1960 1961 1962
1963 1964 1965 1966 1967 1968
1969 1970 1971 1972 1973 1974
1975 1976 1977 1978 1979 1980
1981 1982 1983 1984 1985 1986
1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992
1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034
2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040
2041 2042 2043 2044 2045 2046
2047 2048 2049 2050 2051 2052
2053 2054 2055 2056 2057 2058
2059 2060 2061 2062 2063 2064
2065 2066 2067 2068 2069 2070
2071 2072 2073 2074 2075 2076
2077 2078 2079 2080 2081 2082
2083 2084 2085 2086 2087 2088
2089 2090 2091 2092 2093 2094
2095 2096 2097 2098 2099 2100
2101 2102 2103 2104 2105 2106
2107 2108 2109 2110 2111 2112
2113 2114 2115 2116 2117 2118
2119 2120 2121 2122 2123 2124
2125 2126 2127 2128 2129 2130
2131 2132 2133 2134 2135 2136
2137 2138 2139 2140 2141 2142
2143 2144 2145 2146 2147 2148
2149 2150 2151 2152 2153 2154
2155 2156 2157 2158 2159 2160
2161 2162 2163 2164 2165 2166
2167 2168 2169 2170 2171 2172
2173 2174 2175 2176 2177 2178
2179 2180 2181 2182 2183 2184
2185 2186 2187 2188 2189 2190
2191 2192 2193 2194 2195 2196
2197 2198 2199 2200 2201 2202
2203 2204 2205 2206 2207 2208
2209 2210 2211 2212 2213 2214
2215 2216 2217 2218 2219 2220
2221 2222 2223 2224 2225 2226
2227 2228 2229 2230 2231 2232
2233 2234 2235 2236 2237 2238
2239 2240 2241 2242 2243 2244
2245 2246 2247 2248 2249 2250
2251 2252 2253 2254 2255 2256
2257 2258 2259 2260 2261 2262
2263 2264 2265 2266 2267 2268
2269 2270 2271 2272 2273 2274
2275 2276 2277 2278 2279 2280
2281 2282 2283 2284 2285 2286
2287 2288 2289 2290 2291 2292
2293 2294 2295 2296 2297 2298
2299 2300 2301 2302 2303 2304
2305 2306 2307 2308 2309 2310
2311 2312 2313 2314 2315 2316
2317 2318 2319 2320 2321 2322
2323 2324 2325 2326 2327 2328
2329 2330 2331 2332 2333 2334
2335 2336 2337 2338 2339 2340
2341 2342 2343 2344 2345 2346
2347 2348 2349 2350 2351 2352
2353 2354 2355 2356 2357 2358
2359 2360 2361 2362 2363 2364
2365 2366 2367 2368 2369 2370
2371 2372 2373 2374 2375 2376
2377 2378 2379 2380 2381 2382
2383 2384 2385 2386 2387 2388
2389 2390 2391 2392 2393 2394
2395 2396 2397 2398 2399 2400
2401 2402 2403 2404 2405 2406
2407 2408 2409 2410 2411 2412
2413 2414 2415 2416 2417 2418
2419 2420 2421 2422 2423 2424
2425 2426 2427 2428 2429 2430
2431 2432 2433 2434 2435 2436
2437 2438 2439 2440 2441 2442
2443 2444 2445 2446 2447 2448
2449 2450 2451 2452 2453 2454
2455 2456 2457 2458 2459 2460
2461 2462 2463 2464 2465 2466
2467 2468 2469 2470 2471 2472
2473 2474 2475 2476 2477 2478
2479 2480 2481 2482 2483 2484
2485 2486 2487 2488 2489 2490
2491 2492 2493 2494 2495 2496
2497 2498 2499 2500 2501 2502
2503 2504 2505 2506 2507 2508
2509 2510 2511 2512 2513 2514
2515 2516 2517 2518 2519 2520
2521 2522 2523 2524 2525 2526
2527 2528 2529 2530 2531 2532
2533 2534 253

THE IDWSSD IN THE CONTEXT OF OVERALL DEVELOPMENT

Considerations such as those above clearly cannot be weighed in isolation from what else is happening in the country.

The overall economic situation and prospects will determine levels of expenditure and allocation of resources. Expenditures are more easily justifiable to areas where economic growth expansion and the promise of economic returns are most likely.

e.g. Improved availability of water may well attract population movement in its direction, when a government may have reasons for encouraging population shifts elsewhere.

How much then can be channeled to the most in need and the underserved where costs are likely to be high and economic returns limited? How does one reconcile the underserved precedence with another IDWSSD principle, that of self-reliance and self-sustaining activity? How much indeed can be

allocated generally to the health and water sectors?

Conflicting objectives need to be reconciled between the various programme areas and between the range of objectives encompassed within the IDWSSD programme itself.

well documented The advantages of combined planning and deployment of resources are ~~and~~ relatively easily understood and organized between projects closely associated with water and sanitation within primary health care such as nutrition, maternal and child care, immunization, and so forth.

P.H.C / IDWSSD conceptually inseparable

It is difficult indeed to conceive of the IDWSSD programme planned in a way which is not an integral part of the Primary Health Care (P.H.C) activities.

The degree to which the P.H.C has been developed and is in place will determine very much what information and support a country has to work with in launching and emphasising IDWSSD projects.

The readiness of the community; the skills and demonstrated capacity of community health workers; the known facts of the local situation; the bureaucratic and back up facilities available in the country's P.H.C programme provides the most likely foundation upon which realistic planning and implementation of the IDWSSD can be built. Where there is no such P.H.C foundation then the country has much to do in creating the necessary pre conditions for successful P.H.C / IDWSSD initiatives. If it is intended to achieve an improvement in the community's health status P.H.C and IDWSSD are inseparable.

Sanitation

The weakness in conceptual thinking and planning in an integrated way can be seen very well within IDWSSD activity itself. It is very marked that relative to water matters, sanitation has received little attention in country plans and programmes to date. There are many reasons why this is so.

Sanitation programmes must attempt to deal with extremely intimate personal and social behaviour around which many taboos ~~which~~ have accumulated.

The social situations are very varied from location to location with differences of behaviour even within family units. There are great differences between males and females, between very young, young, and old, differences of behaviour in sanitation matters at time of day, at times of sickness at work ~~at~~ and at home, at different seasons and weather conditions and the local time.

It is imperative that sanitation projects be very much community specific. Except in unusual circumstances sanitation must ride on other development activities which can provide incentives for change.

Sanitation especially should be part of an integrated plan in which a community ^{bargain} is struck.

" If ~~these external inputs~~ are to be provided and you want them

" If these external inputs are what you want and they are to be provided will you undertake to (Whatever is the relevant sanitation activity) ?

Sanitation therefore should be considered a trade-off which requires a firm formal commitment from the community.

Animals and Agriculture

10.

Yet of greater significance although less understood and more difficult to plan for in an integrated way, are those areas where there are competing demands for water.

Rural economies and survival itself are based on animals and agriculture. What food is available, its nutritional value, and the health and cleanliness of animals are indivisible from the health status of rural people themselves.

Water for livestock and water for extending growing seasons by irrigation have a more evident priority both for agencies and people than does the demand for drinking water and its hygienic protection. The scale of agricultural programmes will also overshadow and often preempt resources for IDWSSD purposes.

Because this is so it is essential that working links be made between IDWSSD and Pite, with the relevant Ministries, Departments, and their personnel.

Governments will need to be firm about the priority they really intend to give to IDWSSD concerns in relation to such other policy issues and to make the priority stick by allocating the necessary powers to the implementing agencies in relation to other agencies and also by devising effective means of collaboration between ~~them~~ the agencies.

IDWSSD

COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION ~~AND THE~~ UNDERSERVED

Increasingly, countries have come to recognize that attempts to achieve the Decade goals essentially require the understanding, acceptance, and effective contribution of ordinary people and their communities in the overall processes of planning and implementation of programmes.

How to involve these communities in partnership with government agencies and technicians becomes a central component of planning. It does not just add a further element and complexity to planning. If community participation is to be taken seriously, it will lead to a change in the nature of much of our planning practices to date. Particularly, it will put under increasing scrutiny the quality and nature of the relationship between officials and citizens.

The underserved

Further, the acceptance as a tenet of policy of "giving precedence to the underserved" raises all kinds of challenges. This is so especially where the poorest are in many senses disfranchised. Their status as have-nots has resulted in them being counted perhaps rather than to have a voice and actually count in community affairs. The element of "social justice" in the decision to give the underserved precedence has important implications for allocation of scarce resources, and in the process of involving those unfamiliar in consulting them with those unfamiliar with being consulted. When this happens, the non-persons will have to be included amongst the citizenry to whom officials must relate.

and of conferring
an element of
power in decision-making

Planning with People - a ~~Profound~~ ^{Profound} change

It is the IDSSD approach is taken seriously, and the means are devised for arriving at an ~~adequate~~ ^{adequate} indegious policy which is soundly based and clearly enunciated;
 : it has been decided that the communities themselves are to become fully involved in the planning ^{process}
 : it has been decided and means devised by which the underserved will receive a measure of precedence

- all of which is inherent in IDSSD

Then governments must be fully aware of the extent of the ~~Profound~~ ^{Profound} changes to which they are committing themselves, their public servants, and their people, and the departures in planning which must be initiated and developed.

§ The above intentions, by their very nature imply a considerable number of ~~of~~ ^{of} innovative processes and procedures. In a given nation what are these to be?

It would be comforting if there were to be a globally agreed and soundly trusted set of manuals to advise all countries exactly step-by-step how to proceed in sufficient detail for immediate adoption. ~~Unfortun-~~ Unfortunately experience is fragmentary and highly country, indeed highly regional and locally specific. Perhaps this is not in fact unfortunate at all, but is how it should be and that countries must work out their details for themselves, with the people they have, with the knowledge of the current situation, and with whatever external contribution that they themselves judge clearly as of value in their particular unique set of circumstances

④ The Scenario (1) Administrative

The focus of attention in a people-oriented (rather than technically oriented) way of looking at IDWSB programmes becomes the creative participatory 'interface' between ~~officialdom~~ officialdom and the community.

Those ~~also~~ responsible for planning the water and sanitation programme, along with those who have special skills and experience in what is ~~now~~ to become the crucial matter of working with communities, should become engaged in the task of envisaging in as much detail as possible

- the whole process of involving the community from the perspective of the community itself - the community eye-view.

The steps and sequence of events should be in the form of a scenario.

The scenario should begin from the moment of preliminary (and usually remote) decision-making which will first implicate the community. The description should indicate when and in what way the community will first hear of the proposed programme; and how it will be able to react, respond and relate its particular needs and situation to the general policy and programme intention. The descriptions will continue by dealing with the means by which it is proposed that a creative dialogue can be opened up between the community and those externally responsible for the programme: how a local

plan is to be drawn up; what must be included in the plan; how the project will be implemented and maintained; and ~~will~~ who will assist the community in its endeavours. - and so on.

This scenario and description will require not only a feat of planning imagination, but will need to be put to the test in discussion with real communities and repeatedly tried out, observed and documented before one can expect to get the descriptions sufficiently elaborated for useful model building.

144

On the course of conducting the scenario exercise the planners will have to review in some detail what is known about these two very different structures (community and official) before they come to some judgement regarding their capabilities and potential in working together.

Community Structures

Who operationally speaking will actually be the 'community' with whom the 'official' structure will transact? What is the capability of the community based structures in involving themselves in the development programmes and projects generally and in IDWSSD in particular?

How might the community assign specific responsibility for the dialogue/negotiations? Should there be community water committees (or will an existing authority adopt this function)? If they do not exist, how does one set about setting up such a committee? What should be the committee's terms of reference? How will it keep everyone informed generally? To whom is it responsible specifically? What will be its authority vis-a-vis other community-based authorities? What will its negotiation responsibilities be in relation to external agents and organizations? To whom will it report what, when, for what purpose, and what will then follow?

In some countries and in some places, traditional structures are still sufficiently intact (i.e. tribes with respected chiefs), in others relatively new political party structures are in place which have the active support of local people. To the extent that these community structures are demonstrably able to organize and carry out the IDWSSD responsibilities and adequately pay particular attention to the underserved (which is a tenet of government policy), the two structures - official and community - will be well placed to open up a dialogue in relation to the IDWSSD endeavours.

However, there will be situations where such structures do not adequately exist; where there are strong internal dissensions; or where the structures have grown from and continue to concern themselves and serve interests not sufficiently related to the work required to ensure IDWSSD activity and achievement of goals. In any event, even in the best regulated countries because there are great differences from community to community, it cannot be taken for granted that an effective working group will already exist.

In such situations, the social development worker will have to help lay the foundation for such a working group in his early contact. He will have to identify the formal and informal leaders and opinion-makers and help them to come to some agreement regarding community-based organization and responsibilities. He will have to help them to reach out and truly encourage and ²⁰¹⁵full participation of community members in the decision, commitments and responsibilities required if the community wishes to be included in the programme.

It is well said that a community must consider itself the owner of its problems before it will organize itself to come to grips with them.

The foundation task of the social development worker will include promoting this point of view and ¹²⁹come to a sound judgement on whether such ownership is genuinely acknowledged and ¹⁶there is a sufficient measure of social cohesion to give feasibility to the intention that the programme can be carried through successfully by each community.

5/2
10/2

Footnote 1/4:

of paramount importance will be the nature and quality of performance of the personnel who are to come into contact with the community and who will be responsible for establishing and following through a productive working relationship with them

there is a broad agreement that special skills, training and responsibilities are necessary for such a role. What his/her title should be should be determined by each country in relation to the organisations to which he is answerable (In this document we shall adopt the title social development worker)

The work on the scenario will also provide the basis for coming to decisions regarding which agency, agencies or combination of agencies and personnel are to take overall responsibility and constitute the official structure of the partnership with the community for IDWSSD purposes.

No other governmental decision is going to be so important operationally as the choice of the agency which is going to run the water programme

It is often the case that agencies are in a position and have a way of working which predates the adoption of new policies, aims and objectives by the government. The grafting of new aims creates problems because agencies tend to perpetuate their older ways of doing things; some governments have for this reason created new agencies to supersede the old. In practice, in different countries a whole range of variations are to be found.

From the point of view of community participation, a great deal will depend on the political climate of the country - and hence on what sort of motivation for self improvement can be summoned, and by whom. It will equally depend on the strengths and problems affecting the local administrative system, for many administrations suffer from lack of qualified personnel, and the existing personnel may be overburdened, or imbued with attitudes of bureaucratic efficiency and maintain a social distance, which make it unlikely that they would fully play a supportive role in participatory planning and implementation of the programme.

The questions are often raised: What would be the best agency to support the role of the social development worker? A separate agency? A division of an existing technical agency? A health agency? A public works agency? A community development agency? A non-governmental agency?

There is no one sound answer. The options in the abstract will each have their own strengths but leave some areas of the activity less likely to receive adequate attention than would be the case given an alternative choice.

Governments however cannot make decisions on theoretical assumptions: they will need to examine their available and potential human resources and institutional capacity in realistic terms. They will then be able to make judgements regarding what already exists and upon which they can build and what, if any, new elements will need to be introduced to carry out the necessary functions. This review of manpower is perhaps even more important than the review of technical resources. Nevertheless there is very little experience available which shows this kind of (manpower and institutional capacity for people-oriented functions) review having been carried out satisfactorily.

Governments will need to ask:

which agencies are currently closest to the communities and would be able to take up the necessary community-oriented IDWSSD tasks?

who do we presently have available with a track record of good working relationships with communities?

who have potentially the attributes on which we can build the necessary people-oriented skills?

where there are such personnel and agencies and we are to draw upon them for these additional tasks, will they be over-burdened? How will we relieve them of present responsibilities and how then will the responsibilities be met?

what will be the full implication of spelling-out new job descriptions and incorporating them into agency structures?

what change in ^{allegiances:} ... will the new responsibilities require?

what are to be the incentives to motivate such personnel, what will be the appropriate rewards and promotion opportunities, i.e. the career structure to be opened up for them?

how will their work be supervised and assessed and how will they be helped to improve performance?

how many of such personnel will be required, what will their status be in relation to other personnel in the overall programme?

how quickly (or slowly) is it possible and should we expand in order to reach the required numbers and to ensure high standards of work?

5. Communications

18

The scenario will certainly throw into relief the importance of communications between all those who are to be involved in the IDWSD process.

(Especially important will it be at the interface between community and officials.

Carefully designed communications and the role of the social development workers are the institutional means to bridge the all too destructive gap which exists between planners and people.

HOW ARE THE COMMUNITIES TO HEAR ABOUT AND BE INVITED TO RESPOND TO THE POSSIBILITY OF BEING INCLUDED IN THE PROGRAMME?

It is advisable to set up a special communications staff to service the needs of the programme.

The responsibilities of the communications staff should include:

- preparation of speeches by government leaders and releases for the media to provide general information regarding the purposes of the programme;
- preparation (with full consideration of the different levels of responsibility, sophistication, literacy and comprehension of the intended readers) of statements of government policy and explanation of its elements;
- helping to prepare the directives to the different levels of management down the line in as simple a manner as possible.

It has long been recognized that being told about things results in a fraction of the information being retained and leaves the way open to much misinterpretation and misunderstanding. It is therefore necessary to give a great deal of thought and attention to the content, methods and materials of communication, which can be utilized by the external agent in his contacts with the community. ^

The communications staff will have a special responsibility for:

- preparing the materials to be utilized by the social development staff to work with the community authorities and participants. This material will include "discussion packages" and "How to ... Guides" related to the setting up or strengthening of the effectiveness of community groups, setting out tasks and responsibilities, etc. It will also include relevant considerations regarding drinking water supply and sanitation; related agricultural practices utilizing, competing for, or contaminating water; health matters. A whole range of these "How to ... Guides" will need to be developed;
- preparing simple explanations related to the different technological options. Technical drawings are not what is meant here. At present, there is almost no material which lay people and communities can consider at their own pace, related to spelling out the people details. For example, hand pumps, gravity flow, individual domestic taps, power pumping systems, etc, each requires a specific and different involvement and response from community and users. The matter of costs (capital, on-going and maintenance) will differ with each, and the possibility of recovering such costs will differ also according to each of the possible technologies. Such implications for the adopting of each technology must be fully understood, be seen to be realistic for each specific community, and fully accepted with genuine commitment on all sides.

~~All the above together must constitute an overall guide to village (community) authorities and groups, and make clear the policy rationale and social justice elements in establishing criteria for selection for participation in the various development schemes.~~

These criteria must indicate the order of priorities against which communities will be able to judge their own needs in relation to the needs of others, and assist them in coming to a decision upon whether to make known their interest and willingness to join in a joint endeavour with the authorities related to the water programme, and how to set about it.

The communications staff must aim at producing a simply stated but comprehensive collection of material. Which together will become the overall guide designed for village community authorities and groups. The guide must . . .

The person or persons who connect and transact between these ~~two different~~ ^{community and the office} structures become all-important actors in the whole process. It is upon these actors and the working partnerships which they establish that the success or failure of programmes will depend.

The official structure and the community structure have different historical and organizational cultures and they have different points of reference. The gap between the two cultures, though perhaps subtle and often unrecognized, is usually immense. Each brings its own perception to encounters.

Although staff members of agencies may carry their own personal perceptions, even prejudices, and unwillingly superimpose them upon situations in the field, nevertheless as functionaries in a bureaucratic hierarchy they are conscious - or certainly should be - of their organizational terms of reference embodied in the policies of the agency within which they are expected to operate, and specified in their particular job descriptions.

~~For these reasons, and many others, the first requirement for an effective programme is a very clear statement of policy; a very clear set of~~
job descriptions, and a staff capable of interpreting these in
their day to day activities and tasks.

Training is of great importance and for the social development worker whose role has been detailed in the scenario, the innovative, relatively unfamiliar, community-oriented skills - with - people assignment requires very special attention.

TRAINING

Bureaucratic and technical agencies typically operate as production rather than people-oriented organizations.

The IDWSSD programmes require an alteration in the major concern for technical matters and the adoption of a very strong concern for the social aspects, which necessitates ways of working very closely with communities in all stages of the programme.

There is broad agreement that there is a need for staff with special responsibilities for this "across-two-cultures" (agency and community) interface work. It is clear that ~~such~~ staff are neither already skilled in this task nor are they waiting-in-the-wings to be added to the technical agencies.

Such staff will need to be identified in terms of potentially having the appropriate attitudes, experience and willingness to learn their roles. The agencies too will have to be prepared for a large measure of reorientation of their ways of planning and operating in order to create new kinds of organization to effectively accommodate the new technical/social mix.

Despite the pressure and urgency to find models on which to base the establishment of such organizations, experience is fragmentary and limited. ~~For~~ In practice is it likely that governments can set up new agencies with new staff uninfluenced by their pasts, even if we knew exactly step-by-step what was required.

Agencies and staff must then be prepared to find out how best to operate in these new endeavours and to recreate and modify organization and practice as experience dictates.

The training of the interfacing staff must be a practical training - that is training to do certain tasks. Theoretical content is required only where it is directly related to a specific activity. Problem-solving and practice skills are central to this kind of training.

Training programmes to date have been found to:

- over-rely on western models and theories which squeeze local environments into intellectual concepts not always valid in developing countries;
- be unsufficiently (or hardly at all) based on actual field conditions and problems: the observations and evaluation of local situations are neglected or not seen as the new building blocks of training programmes (or for that matter the contruction of ^{indigenous} and specific social theory);
- be taught by trainers who have not had first hand experience of the skills that they should be ^{imparting} in an apprentice-type style and instead tend to teach subjects in a didactic way.

X * See Yasas, Drucker, and Basnyat. Mobile Training Scheme.

UNDP/ELCATE Project Development Mission Thailand Feb 1973

JOB DESCRIPTIONS

Any training should be founded on a specific job description - training is to learn what is to be done and how to do it. For convenience because everything cannot be learnt at once, the jobs are to be broken down into a task analysis. However, in working predominantly in the field of human relationships, it is the putting together of what has been learnt, to use as situations require which is the test of whether the training has been effective or not.

What then is the job for which the social development worker is to be trained?

Where there are skilled workers of this kind actually working in successful water/sanitation programmes, it is possible to describe their activities in some detail and their skills can be drawn upon to be transferred to new workers in an apprentice-type relationship.

This kind of learning relies a great deal on what is taught rather than what can be taught didactically. This process of learning (i.e. methods, techniques and performance, in which one observes self in relation to others) sets up an attitude to learning which encourages self-direction and on-going improvement in performance and a constructive identification with the standards set by the trainer/worker.

This matter of attitude and self-evaluation is central to community work and it is why training for community work is different from training for much else, where attitude is peripheral or of no vital importance.

What is being advocated here is a style in which the relationship between trainer and learner is one of co-workers in which the trainer stimulates, encourages, and demonstrates in order to build upon the trainee's own latent capacities. This relationship is one ^{which} where the trainee is expected to identify with and adopt when he/she (as co-worker) works with communities. He will be stimulating the community to draw upon their latent capacities.

It should be noted that in most situations, he will be working in a way which runs counter to the all too familiar and expected tradition of taking the superior stance of an authority figure bestowing his wisdom upon those who should properly do as they are told.

and is fatal

The familiar tradition is endemic in governmental and teaching institutions, ~~would be fated~~ to true partnership and genuine participation and in attempting to change from this tradition one should not underestimate the full magnitude of what is being attempted in setting up effective social development cadres for water and sanitation programmes.

~~However, it is unlikely that either workers or trainers of this kind indicated here will be sufficiently available. How then to get started?~~

To begin with

Training and training institutes should not be considered an adjunct to an agency and its field operations, but as a link in the chain of line authority. Trainers will have an on-going educational supervisors role in operations and trainees will have an on-going responsibility for developing their own skills, improving procedures and contributing to more effective training and become field trainers in their own right.

24

25

TRAINERS WITH FIRST HAND EXPERIENCE

A

here The major problem with ~~this kind of~~ practice-oriented community-focussed training and ^{the} putting together of a content to be used selectively in relation to the practice, is that except for a few experienced community development workers in a few small (and often controversial) institutions there are not many trainers in the developing world who know and are familiar with the approach outlined. Even more scarce are those who have first hand experience of working in a variety of communities related specifically to rural water supply.

Working on the principle that if you have not done it, then it is difficult to teach others how to (and from the writer's experience of so many classroom-bound theoretical 'banquet' courses which pass for training in the Third World and often in affluent societies too), it suggests that the matter of training workers for social preparation responsibilities will more often than not require the assembling and training of a special group of trainers.

The trainers must bring their present skills to bear specifically upon the need for setting up a training regimen (rather than a course) for the community work related to the water and sanitation projects. There are precious few precedents, and few have skills in curriculum building of this kind.

social development → For the purposes we have in mind here, the trainers should be prepared to regard themselves as a team of explorers and become the prototype cadre of workers. Fully undertaking and playing the role of the community worker, they will be responsible for initiating contact with the villagers, finding out what seems to work in reality and what does not, putting together and fully documenting their methods, identifying and elaborating upon the skills and techniques they use, and devising the training materials for the trainees who will be following in their footsteps not very far behind.

The trainers will be the pioneers and trail-blazers and should be recruited less for their subject or academic qualifications than for their ability and enthusiasm for working in rural areas; their openness to new experiences and willingness to learn from them; their powers of analysis of what they are doing in field problem-solving; and most importantly, their ability for stimulating enthusiasm in others.

* See The Cafeteria Approach p. 29
* See The Cafeteria Approach p. 29

26

HOW TO PRODUCE THE TRAINERS

The trainers could begin by drawing upon the best information and experience to hand and be the ones who shared the responsibility for writing out the first operational scenario(s) for the community-focussed water and sanitation work. *They must be prepared to take the scenarios into much greater detail regarding the context as a process of contacting, working with and following through*

For start-up purposes, perhaps they should work in pairs in the villages, introducing themselves and undertaking the social preparation community work along the lines of the scenario which they themselves have written. Each pair should proceed to the best of their abilities, along the guidelines they themselves have developed from the scenario, and keep a full diary and description of their day-to-day experience.

These trainer/role-playing pairs would come together regularly to extensively review and examine each others' on-going experience in the villages.

The trainers would divide themselves into sub-groups (with an overlapping membership) and be responsible for developing different aspects of the training programme which they will eventually ~~be~~ conducting.

be creating and
They will work from their own written documentation, seek further elaboration from each other as necessary; bring in specialists for advice where it is required; and incorporate any other available material which they judge is of particular significance to their practical experience.

One group might work progressively on improving the scenario (and developing alternate scenarios) to fit with the experienced reality. Where there are inconsistencies between what planners, administrators, or technicians have in mind and what is discovered in the field, realities and action, the discrepancies, gaps and inconsistencies should be fully written up and one group might be delegated to clarify these issues and come up with some agreement with the authorities concerned regarding how best to proceed. Such clarification is likely to be necessary perhaps in spelling out ^{increasingly} realistic job descriptions, and one of the sub-groups should undertake the task of getting these to a satisfactory state.

Beyond well elaborated job descriptions comes the necessity for breaking them down into a set of task analyses which will need to be performed at the village level. It is these which will begin to focus the trainers on what precisely will need to be taught, i.e. what exactly must the trainers learn to do (the scenario writers will keep an eye on things and suggest sequences).

A teaching materials sub-group will begin to identify and extract from the raw accounts a set of narrative mini case-studies and refine them for discussion and teaching purposes. (Much human relationships and problem-solving skills can effectively be developed in case-study discussion sessions)

is
The trainer sub-group should edit the case materials; outline the range of things which are illustrated by the materials; raise issues; indicate related materials as reading matter; so providing teaching notes and suggestions for using the case material.

Another group will develop with the communications staff a growing range of "How to ... Guides" and notes of how best to utilize these in practice.

Perhaps this "How best the material might be utilized" could be taken up by a sub-group which will describe and try out different kinds of training and teaching possibilities and methods for utilizing each piece of material.

Another sub-group will have to begin working out how to introduce the first batch of trainees to take up and refine the work of the trainers (who will by the time the trainees arrive have had themselves the first hand experience of trying to do the job). The sub-group will be detailing the initial true training "curriculum" course, in which the trainers will be shifting back from front line work (but not too far back) to take up their role of educational supervisors and guides to the trainers whose major training experience will be as field- and practice-oriented as that of the trainer had been before them.

The sub-groups suggested above should continue to function when the trainees are in place. But now, the trainers will be utilizing the trainees' reporting for adding to and revising the training materials and the training programme.

What will have been instituted is the "training" of an on-going cadre of trainers who will have created a training programme from their first hand experience and who can continue to keep their programme closely related to the continuingly accumulated knowledge and understanding coming from the field.

This can be fairly described as bottom-up support-down curriculum building, and has a parallel in bottom-up and support-down planning processes which are fundamental to concepts of community participation.

The trainers will have been taken through a process of creating a training regimen - a training to do. The tasks will be pitched at the level which they themselves will have shown to be possible to perform under real conditions which face a community worker in his country's villages.

They themselves will have tried and established the initial realistic standard of delivery of service to be aimed at in working with real communities in relation to the water and sanitation programme as it has been planned and is meant to be implemented.

They themselves will have to have demonstrated how the new kind of mutually respecting partnership with the community can be - step by step - initiated, established, maintained and expanded.

The trainers will have been directly involved in a kind of participant action-oriented research for identifying the elements of a practice. As practitioners (and later as trainers and supervisors of field practice) they will continually be identifying and focussing upon practice problems for more concentrated attention and research.

These trainers from their first hand experience of working with the community and the water agency can be expected to gradually improve upon the training programme and assist as indicated in producing and modifying the communication materials with the communications staff.

It should again be emphasized that the training should not be seen as an isolated or separate activity of the agency, but as part of the line management. The trainer's job should be so organized that responsibility for training is merged with the responsibility for on-going supervision of the social development workers. The training and the later supervision can of course be conducted in appropriate groups, but a degree of individual supervision should also be part of the pattern.

In this way, the quality of the social development work with the community can be monitored, maintained and built upon. This will also provide trainers with up-to-date and new illustrative material and probably a wider range of content, to be fed back into the training programme from the ever-widening pool of field experience.

THE "CAFETERIA" STYLE

The ^{*of Training*} Content should be envisaged as being gradually put together and stored for use as in a "cafeteria". The more content we can prepare, the more choice we have when it comes to select what we need when we need it (as dictated by the specific situation we find in our field experience). The "cafeteria" style where one can take or leave in any order one prefers from what is actually available, differs very dramatically and significantly from our familiar "banquet" style of teaching where someone on high provides fixed courses ahead of time which you are expected to get through from appetiser to mints, whether you take in, properly digest and can use the content or not.

The items accumulated in the cafeteria will gradually enrich the possibilities of pulling together a variety of permutations into composite training modules adapted to the specific needs of the trainees at any given time and situation. The range of these modules will be directed and linked to the different stages of the scenario as it is played out in a given community. In work with different communities, the cafeteria style should be adopted too. The scenario provides a generalized guide to the process and variety of working with communities, each ^{*of*} which will have its own distinct strengths and weaknesses.

Those who work with the communities should be encouraged to use their experience of the cafeteria style by effectively responding to the issues as they naturally emerge in any community, without insisting on a rigid sequence of issues (banquet). The community workers must of course see the process as a whole and sensitively introduce issues and questions as it is necessary to back-track or where important matters are being forgotten or avoided. To change the metaphor, the workers will be assisting in orchestrating the recurring themes and instruments to match the rythms and nuances of each community. His work becomes community-centered rather than technology-centered, as it currently tends to be.

How to Guides COMMUNITY WORKERS TRAINING

community work

the development of

Each one of the activities in the scenario will require simple "How to ... Guides". Guides should tell of the real experience of other communities, what arrangements worked, what problems were run into, and how they were overcome, what to take into account, and advantages and disadvantages of different solutions, checklists. This "How to ..." material should be carefully put together, perhaps in comic strip form, but at any event geared to the literacy level and comprehension skills of the community involved.

These "How to ... Guides" and how they can most effectively be introduced and used with the community will become part of the content of training for the development worker.

As the

increasing The scenario from which the need and focus for these "How to ... Guides" will emerge is also the base from which the job of the workers can be described in detail and a task-by-task analysis made. These tasks are what the worker must be able to perform either from their existing proven capacities when recruited and assigned, or from the skills they will learn as a consequence of training and practice. Many of the tasks framed in the scenario will be seen essentially to require skills in human relations and involve interpersonal exchanges with individuals, groups and different kinds of organizations.

~~The context in which these skills are to be practised is around the items which have been discussed and decisions will need to be made in putting together the overall community plan. In this way, training content will be accumulated constantly, developed into communications materials, and be ready for use when it is found to be needed by the worker/practitioner specifically related to the situation in the community.~~

The context in which these skills are to be practised is of course around sharing with the community the work of spelling out a satisfactory IDWSSD plan.

⑦ Scenario (II)

31

The emphasis that has been given to the creation and continuing modification and improving of scenarios grew from the need to tackle a range of difficulties that have been observed in a number of countries and which receive relatively little prominence in health related planning literature.

The scenario it has been serves as a reference point for determining a number of broad areas of organisational decision making.

However as this ~~and~~ document has concentrated very much on the 'missing ingredient' (so to speak) of community partnership with officialdom - the interface, some further considerations can be offered to those who will be trying to construct their own country specific community oriented scenarios.

COMMUNITIES SHOULD DEMONSTRATE INITIAL INTEREST AND POTENTIAL COMMITMENT BY MAKING AN APPLICATION FOR INCLUSION IN THE PROGRAMME

An extremely important principle confirmed repeatedly in practice is that partnership must be established on the basis of a community being able, ready and actively willing to become involved and to commit itself. This kind of commitment should be demonstrated in requiring a community after sufficient consideration to make an initial application to join the programme.

The communication staff should prepare a simple guide on "How to make an initial application".

The initial application would need to include:

- what is the status of the group signing the application (it may be an ad hoc group or an already formalized group);
- a brief description of the water situation of the village, severity of problems met with, improvements desired;
- a brief description of the health and sanitation conditions of the village;
- an expression of willingness to meet potential costs, labour requirements, and provide selected people/groups for training in management/maintenance;
- a commitment to make ^{equitable} ~~equal~~ provision for disadvantaged groups;
- an invitation for a social development worker from the agency to joint them in planning the next step - the formal application.

(17)

The Communication staff should prepare a simple Guide on "How to make an initial application".

The initial application would ^{need to} include:

- what is the status of the group signing the application (it may be an ad hoc group or an already formalised group)
- a brief description of the water situation of the village, severity of problems met with, improvements desired
- a brief description of the health and sanitation conditions of the village
- an expression of willingness to meet potential costs, labour requirements, and provide selected people/groups for training in management/maintenance
- a commitment to ^{equal} ~~max~~ provision for disadvantaged groups
- an invitation for a social development worker from the agency to join them in planning the next step - the formal application

33

The initial application

The process required for making an application is not to create a bureaucratic hurdle but to enable a community to provide some basic information and to provide the authorities with a preliminary "diagnostic" tool. The preliminary application can then be used to make a judgement of a community's true interest, degree of readiness etc., and become a "prognostic" indicator of ^{potentially} successful partnership.

(18)
24

The preliminary application is the reciprocal information supplied by the community in response to the information coming about the programme from outside; in effect the application gives notice to the authority that the community is now open to the establishment of the interfacing partnership between them and the social development staff of the programme.

As the first applications arrive decisions can then be made regarding the deployment of the staff who are to be responsible for making, stimulating and assisting communities in planning and implementing the project.

Where applications are not forthcoming a decision can be made regarding how much more concentrated work must be done to promote the programme on a community by community basis.

For example, if a gravity flow system is a ^{Technical} possibility, serve say twenty communities along the flow line. Have all the communities have positively responded and shown interest? If not, which eight be left out? Would that make sense? Why are they not interested? Have they actually understood? Have they not or contented with the educational capacity within the community to read and understand the scheme? Do they have valid reasons for lack of interest? Will their lack of interest jeopardize the scheme for the others?

Such considerations based on the response or otherwise to the call for applications will have important implications for the deployment and concentration of staff to assist the

The preliminary application by [redacted] and should promptly trigger a response from [redacted] The response must indicate what [redacted] (worker)(team) will be available to the [redacted]

The arrival of [redacted] quality of the information [redacted] need for [redacted] in relation to the [redacted] committee is organizing [redacted] an application.

25 89

communities in organising themselves sufficiently to make an application.

The arrival or non-arrival of applications and the quality of the information provided may indicate the need for rethinking procedures, or rethinking programme in relation to these communities.

The preliminary application by definition needs to be a simple affair, and should promptly trigger a response from outside by the ^{ISSD} ~~water~~ authority group. The response must indicate who ^{is to be} and when the agency social development (worker)(team) will be available to the community.

THE INTERFACE
COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION PROCESS
PRELIMINARY PLANNING AND FORMAL APPLICATION

The social development worker is allocated and introduces him/herself to the village community; it is at this stage that the agency and the community interface partnership actually begins to become established. Their joint task is now to outline the elements and dimensions of a community-focussed plan for a water project within the overall water programme.

The partnership will aim to produce a plan which will be an integral part of the submission of a formal application. The process of producing the plan will involve a great deal of providing and sharing information on both sides.

The giving and the seeking of information is not a neutral activity. Much will depend upon the relationship - the attitudes - of the giving and receiving partners.

The manner of providing information is an important aspect of community participation. For whom is the information intended, and for what purpose? Emphasizing the matter of partnership, the answer is that one is providing the partners, jointly, with what they both need to know in order to plan and agree jointly.

37

SURVEYS, DATA BASES ...

A PARTICIPATORY PROCESS, NOT AN ACADEMIC EXERCISE

Too much information gathering - surveys, etc. - are conducted by those who consider themselves on a higher plane hierarchically and intellectually. A number of water programmes spend a great deal of time and effort requiring base-line surveys. There is an enormous number of problems inherent in attempting to extract valid data from the villages and communities in developing countries. The process of such data collecting is very likely to raise the suspicions of the community (e.g., inquiries about household income may be interpreted as the preliminary to new types of taxation) and it is therefore antithetical to the process of trying to establish good working relationships.

If the base-line data is intended as a piece of research to illustrate the impact of the provision of a new water supply system, or some such, this raises complex survey technicalities. In that case, it is best thought of as a specialized research operation in its own right, and not to be confused with what information is needed for sharing in a joint planning process.

Frequently, the activity is like squeezing a lemon: the information juice is collected and taken away, the rest of the fruit (the community) is discarded. Typically, the juice is processed and used by the squeezer, and the community lemon never has the opportunity to utilize its own informational juice for itself. The collection of information should be a process that aims at leaving communities juicier than they were to begin with... knowing afresh what they know, and being stimulated to think about their knowing in new ways. Information givers should be able to understand why information is needed, and how it can be used, in order to make their project an effective one.

Concepts of planning in the sequence of data first - analysis - planning later, etc, are not appropriate here, nor are issues of scientific objectivity (~~we will return to this when we discuss training as requiring a "cafeteria"~~ style rather than the "set courses" of a "banquet"). What the partners need at this stage is to experience the quality of the process.

~~Making special note of the subjective element,~~ This process is the essential one for building mutual trust and building the working partnership.

It is obvious that this kind of operation does not come naturally to many who have been embedded in bureaucratic or academic institutions and structures, where hierarchical traditions and behaviour towards those not so embedded is - however muted - of the "we know best, really" kind. ~~Re~~Establishing these new attitudes and ways of working are a crucial area for training in the practice of performing work in partnership with communities.

Where the partners will start from will depend very much on what is already known - by the outsiders and the insiders - and on the pooling of information and agreeing that the already known is known by both. This sharing of knowledge will be the content of early exchanges between the partners.

— The partners will need to identify what more will need to be known in order to agree upon the objectives and to examine the various possibilities of achieving these. They will have to find ways of setting about getting to know the not clearly or not sufficiently known things. They must share the interpretation of the information which will provide the basis for making a whole range of decisions and testing out or judging the implications of these decisions. The communication staff will have provided the materials which will guide the worker and the community in collecting and examining information and its significance for the project.

39

SELF-SURVEYS

The planning process will require

~~The scenario should continue with~~ a description of how the community, through its working committee, might begin to look at itself by stating its present situation; the need as it experiences it; its present resources; the way in which the new resources which the programme might make available will make a difference, and as far as possible spell out these differences in terms of their own "targets".

Such a piece of work could be in the form of a self-survey and this would require the development of a community-oriented "How to ... Guide" - in this case a "How to examine your water supply and water-related health needs guide". The survey should clearly arise directly from the community's needs to have information about itself as a preliminary step in more detailed planning. Of course, the information can be shared with others, but fundamentally should be collected because the community needs to know and they should be able to see the purpose for each of the questions they will be addressing.

Such a self-survey might be placed in the context of establishing the community's "eligibility" in relation to the policy and priorities which the programme will have determined.

The ability and success of the community in conducting the survey could of itself be considered an expression of a community's potential for effective participation and indicate the degree of their social preparedness for engaging in the project. ^{an} important prognostic element which should be part of the criteria for the selection of a community for receiving external resources.

It should be emphasized that an agency must be assured of commitment by the community before committing scarce and expensive investment resources. The submission of the community's self-survey is a key element in this process.

In any event, communities will need to understand very clearly what the criteria for selection are, and they must have an idea of how the criteria have been arrived at (the criteria properly explained can have an important part to play politically and relate to processes of nation building in making tangible and credible such a concept as "social justice", i.e. the reasons why one community is justifiably "favoured" with assistance rather than another).

The scenario ^{will} ~~might~~ then spell out how applications will be handled, by whom, and how the selection or rejection (or request for more information) will be managed.

40

LOCAL INSTITUTION BUILDING

The community group will also need to examine its own capacity for the planning task, and make sure it has included all appropriate members of the community.

It should include those not ordinarily important in other village affairs, but for whom water and health programmes are of particular significance, with a special concern for the disadvantaged groups. Such a broad based group brought together for the planning process will probably need to include many more persons than the ones who signed the original informal application - and in turn, this planning group will eventually decide the nature of the "local institution" which will carry the responsibility for implementing on-going support and maintenance of the water scheme. The existence of such a local institution is an essential step in the participatory process.

The planning group will need to plan information campaigns to keep the wider community closely in touch in an on-going way with what is being done and what needs to be decided.

41

TECHNICIANS ON TAP

Bearing in mind what has been said about the "we know best, really" mentality which places expertise on top rather than on tap in planning and the decision-making processes, the technical staff will have a very important role to perform. Technical staff in particular ^{may have} difficulties in accepting the advisory role as outlined here, especially ^{as} they do know best about a range of technological matters, and this knowledge is usually scarce and essential.

However, they too must learn to share their knowledge, and to listen and help incorporate such knowledge in an overall social development plan with what things the community knows best, however disorderly at first sight these things and knowing are. For example, each community will know best how much in manpower and resources their community will be able and willing to commit to water matters, compared to all the other demands that their lives make upon them. They will know too the year-round local availability and utilization of water in the community.

Nevertheless the community plan will in many important ways be influenced by and have ^{to be} built around whatever technology options are being ^{proposed}. Therefore, a significant element of the community plan will be determined by the content of the engineers report assuming that the community agree that the technological options are appropriate for their needs and their way of doing things.

The report itself will need to be fully shared in ways that the community will understand, and the implications for the community fully accepted and planned for.

As has been observed earlier, the different technical solutions require different responsibilities to be placed on the community and on support services. These requirements and responsibilities should be well explained and detailed in material provided by the communications staff.

→ 41A

42

7.

THE COMMUNITY PLAN

Although it is unlikely to be a straight and sequential path, the community plan will have to cover and decide upon what is required, and what they will need to do in relation to:

- arranging for information and campaigns around the coming of the water supply;
- under advice, the selection of the appropriate technology and working out of its full potential (and its limitations) in terms of how it will be used in the community;
- involving the children at school (Water Curriculum Packages); x¹
- selection of the optimal site for the water supply and distribution points from both the social and technical points of view;
- clearing the site for the technical operations;
- arranging for unimpeded access of equipment or of drilling rigs;
- arranging for assistance to the technical crews:
 - . shelter, food, hospitality,
 - . labour, digging of pits,
 - . water supply, local materials, etc;
- informational and educative "entertainment" while the crews are in the village ("circus" approach to communications); x²
- considering and selecting the possible designs of appropriate:
 - . well platforms,
 - . pump houses,
 - . storage tanks,
 - . distribution points,
 - . drainage of water, etc;
- selection, training arrangements and payment of operating and maintenance workers, pump operators, etc;
- securing, payment for and storage of supplies:
 - . fuel,
 - . spare parts,
 - . construction and maintenance,
 - . materials;
- routine maintenance and procedures for arranging repairs beyond local expertise;

Foolkies

x¹

See → Spy Games M....
(GAMES)

x²

The circus is coming. →

Handwritten note: The bottom of the page

~~Maintenance~~ Maintenance

A major problem has been in ensuring that after installation facilities soon break down due to ~~lack~~ lack of maintenance and back up systems

There is clearly a very serious lack of formal procedures related to operation and maintenance of water, systems.

and sanitation

Construction of any system should not be considered complete: until 1) a detailed schedule (day by day, week by week, month by month) of activities is worked out for the specific system; 2) it is determined who will be responsible for carrying out these items; 3) a simple reporting and monitoring system has been devised.

Bearing in mind:

- i) What can be done easily by lay persons: cleaning of surrounds; walking the lines to detect leaks, *etc. inspection of sanitation facilities etc.*
- ii) What will require some simple training and demonstration so that the trainees can perform regular maintenance procedures such as oiling, tightening, replacing taps, washers, cleaning out silt deposits, etc.
- iii) What will require some special training for relatively simple repairs.
- iv) What spares and tools must be left with the community to allow it to carry out the above, and which they will be responsible for protecting, issuing and replacing.
- v) What activities will be carried out on a regularly scheduled basis by trained maintenance crews.
- vi) What must be done in the event of a breakdown which cannot be handled locally; how and whom to get in touch with to report such breakdown; what to do about safe emergency supplies of water until the breakdown has been repaired.

The communications staff will have a job to do here in spelling out these maintenance responsibilities

The discussions between the community and the social development worker will need to concentrate upon ^{all} these responsibilities and step-by-step jointly arrive at satisfactory ways of ensuring that the responsibilities will be carried out and maintained over time.

43

- inspection and maintenance of facilities;
- sampling for quality of water and arranging for conveying samples for analysis;
- all matters related to use of water:
 - . drinking - use of safe source year-round,
 - . household - washing clothes, bathing, preparation and protection of food;
- sanitation campaigns:
 - . improvement in domestic water usage,
 - . latrines,
 - . garbage disposal;
- the involvement of the community health worker in planning primary health care campaigns and surveillance;
- associated agricultural and animal husbandry matters:
 - . irrigation,
 - . animals;
- lighting and power possibilities (if there are generators for pumps);
- costing:
 - capital, maintenance, operational costs, drilling crew costs, materials, manpower (caretakers), fuel;
- revenue management:
 - water sales, taxes, subvention of the poorest;
- on-going monitoring, evaluation of projects and reporting arrangements.

Each of these areas having been fully examined and decisions made, the social development worker will assist the community in drawing up an outline plan.

The outline of the community plan incorporating the technical report will constitute the required documentation to accompany a formal application for inclusion in the programme.

Footnote

"The circus is coming" approach - It might be useful to think of water and sanitation project which have the objective of improving public health conditions and requiring much community involvement and health education inputs in the context of the "The circus is coming".

44

This is continuation
of footnote #2.

- 25 -

The circus is the excitement, activity, and sense of event and entertainment generated by the arrival of technicians and their equipment in the villages. Circuses are planned well in advance. Staff move ahead to negotiate sites and service, place notices about the circus, fix dates, open ticket booths, arrange the circus parade, clean up and repair sites, and make sure expenses (and fines) are paid and that the community will be ready for the circus to come again next time, etc.

The coming of project staff should be thought about in the same way. The actual physical work will be only one dramatic point in a continuum of work to be undertaken in villages.

AN AID TO PLANNING WITH THE COMMUNITY

Examples of how this kind of planning might be managed

At a large village gathering, everyone is invited to list all the things that they foresee will need to be done. The emphasis is on activities. Bearing in mind the low level of literacy, someone is invited to do a drawing of each activity (no great artistic skill is necessary; matchstick men and crude representations will do, although it is surprising how often a village artist is discovered). Each drawing is pinned on the wall until all the actions have been mentioned and everything seems to have been covered.

The activities are then considered in order of precedence chronologically, clustering the pictures where activities have to be undertaken simultaneously. When the sequence from start to finish has been pinned around the meeting place to everyone's satisfaction, consideration can be given to practicalities such as seasons, wet/dry, sowing/harvest, festivals and so on, so that above the pictures agreed dates for the activity can be placed (without talking the language of planning, the community will have produced its own flow charts and chronological bar chart representations). How many people, what skills, tools and resources can be represented under each of the drawings and at some point who exactly will be involved in each activity can be worked out and added - a manpower plan.

A useful device can be utilized to deal with costs and book-keeping*, which will clarify matters even for those poorly endowed with numeracy: plastic bags should be placed under each activity and play-money (as in the game of Monopoly) used to count out what each activity is expected to cost**.

Where there is to be some revenue, from selling water or some other product, a similar estimating and counting out can be enacted and shown against costs. Later, as money is collected or dispersed, it can be shown to be moved from one plastic bag to another. There now exists a very visible representation of the community budgeting for the project, and the whole collection of pictures and bags remains in the community publicly displayed and can be used for monitoring and further discussion as the project gets under way and proceeds.

I-SPY GAMES - Village Surveys

Another example illustrates how children might become contributors to the community planning process. It is sometimes said that children are often the culprits in the mishandling of facilities. It might help a great deal to have them feel it is their programme and therefore they must protect the facilities.

* Poor attention to such matters has been the course of development efforts and has caused the failure of many a cooperative.

** Even those who find difficulty in adding up and subtracting have skills in counting out cash.

~~ESPY GAMES~~

~~43~~ -

46

~~form of "I Spy" games.~~ * One such game could be, ~~for example~~, to look for every conceivable water source in the surrounding area. The children could work in pairs or teams, leaving some kind of marker or agreed "secret sign" at each source discovered, so that the same source is not claimed more than once by any "player", and so that a proper claim is made of each "find" and can be judged to belong to the first finder. Some kind of points system and reward for the most points could be devised. All the information from this I Spy game would then be brought together and displayed on the largest possible area on which an outline map of the village or community can be marked out - the school playground, a sportsfield, a market square, the side of a house. The map can be outlined with chalk, stones or bamboo, or scraped on the dry earth. The children can make models with mud, coconut shells, cardboard, anything. Then with sections of the map allocated to pairs of children, they would fill in the map, marking all the water sources.

A village leader, a health worker, or a youth group might organize the whole game. Better still, an enterprising schoolteacher might use a water I Spy game to teach and link many aspects of the curriculum, preferably as a practical activity illustrating what the school is supposed to be teaching anyway - map-making, charts, graphs, handicrafts, hygiene, social studies, essay-writing or as a valuable learning project in its own right.

Children could be asked to write on "Twenty-four hours of water use in my family", describing where the water comes from, how it is collected and stored, how much is used for that, and something about the seasonal variations. They could be set the task of producing a wall rural (children paired, each pair taking a small section of the wall) illustrating water use in the village. All of this clearly has direct relevance to the school curriculum.

From this basic game, we can move on to an I Spy "Sanitary Inspector" game. Teams are again formed and rewards given, this time to the team that identifies from all the sources the most water risk danger situations (having been told all about these beforehand - cattle drinking, bathing, clothes washing, open wells, defecation). They must place a sign to mark the danger and to claim the site for their team. The signs could be semi-permanent so as to mark the site until the risk was eradicated.

Now the risks would be added (big red spots?) to the sources plotted on the huge map. These water games might be linked appropriately to local water festivals such as Holi, Mahathingyan, and so on. When the whole layout is satisfactorily completed, the village leaders and the whole village should be invited to attend a ceremonial inspection of the

* The original game goes like this someone says "I Spy with my little eye Something beginning with ..."
A letter is shouted, and the other players have to guess what object in sight, beginning with that letter, has been selected.

map. The whole thing will be explained (perhaps by the children themselves) and a full presentation made on "Our Village Water Conditions and What Might be Done for a Clean Village Water Supply".

Of course, these games and the whole procedure expect much of the schoolteacher or whoever, and might require a campaign to back them up, with an orientation and practice sessions, sponsored by the education, welfare or health authorities.

Variations can be prepared or experimented with in relation to malaria, nutrition (what is in the market week by week and is cheapest), agriculture, irrigation, forestry husbandry, transportation, marketing, and so on.

What has been illustrated is a child-contribution approach to planning. However, the principle is the same even where an adult group is to take responsibility rather than the children.

The information and the community involvement and interest engendered by these "game" activities are the fertile ground upon which specifically local, tailor-made plans can be built. ~~Some of the~~

"PLANNING UP" LINKS WITH "SUPPORT DOWN"

Once the whole picture of the step-by-step development and activities which are necessary at the community level has been laid out, it should then be possible and somewhat more familiar to work back up the administrative and technical agency structures and to tie into the community timetable and flow of activity the inputs and support ~~from~~ outside, detail by detail.

Where there are activities determined by technical and administrative imperatives which cannot neatly gear into the community pace and way of doing things, these points of discord must be given special consideration and a mutually acceptable arrangement be agreed upon and replanned in the community.

The range, content and timing of the activities must eventually all lead to a satisfactory service for the community - satisfactory, that is, for the community and the authorities, and from the technological point of view.

In skillful hands, this planning process at the community level can result in the enhancing of social cohesiveness; much health and development education; the establishment and improvement of community/government operational relationships.

Assuming the plan is in the judgement of the agency sufficiently technically and socially sound and has in the view of the social development worker full community commitment, the application will be processed. Approval will then be determined by the priorities to be given in relation to all other applications and the available resources.

48

CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENT

The village-based plans having been examined, agreed upon and approved, should then be drawn up in the form of a contractual agreement.

The community will formally undertake to provide agreed labour, local materials, make selections for training and support those trained thereafter, undertake maintenance, keep appropriate records for monitoring and carry through all the social aspects of the programme such as health education, etc.

The agency will undertake to provide the external inputs and support and so on.

The contract signing should be accompanied with appropriate ceremonial for although such contractual agreements may be difficult to enforce, it should be made to be a highly significant and symbolic milestone in community affairs.

With this agreement, the time-frame for activity will be established. The community will now be assisted in spelling out in operational details the things to be done before, during and after the construction and installation of the planned facilities.

BSM

✓

④ Pay-Off and Spin Offs

49

The planning approach and the establishment of genuine working partnerships with communities along the lines suggested in this document are designed to meet the major problems which were stated at the beginning.

- the conceptual gap between people and planners
- the emphasis on coverage rather than on the continued functioning and utilization of facilities
- effective back up support to communities is often lacking particularly after the completion of the project.

What has been proposed is clearly not a 'quick fix' but a radical change in approach.

If successfully conceived and mounted the planning process can be expected to yield a whole range of positive spin-offs way beyond the implementation, ~~and~~ on-going maintenance, improvement and expansion of IDWSSD activities.

Interesting in what has been proposed is ~~the~~ movement towards:

- : new methods of planning
- : a sounder bases for integrated planning and programmes because planning emerging

from community focussed activity should provide a national orchestration of sectoral support and inputs.

: postponing decisions around costly investments (of technology etc) until its appropriateness and its productive utilisation can be more firmly assessed.

: improved Government/Donor relationships by providing confidence that funding will actually reach, have impact, and more likely achieve the community level IDWSSD objectives. This in turn may well attract increased funding at subsequent rounds of ~~negotiation~~ negotiation.

: strengthening the organisational capacity of local communities and groups

: strengthening the positive political aspects of the nation's life in that genuine community participation provides constructive and creative channels for more people and for the energetic and idealistic young to give expression to the desired process of nation building.

: the ~~development~~ ^{establishment} (a cadre of) social development ~~workers~~ ^{workers}, (related here to IDWSSD), but whose skills and experience will provide a community-oriented manpower base for many other types of programme.

: Translating values such as 'social justice' into observable action so meeting a world-wide rising tide of demand for equity in national life

the investment in the social aspects of the processes outlined in this document are undeniably considerable) However, in initiating and establishing the community participation, the investment should be seen ~~as~~ not merely as expenditure but as an accumulation of social capital for achieving long term objectives.

It is social capital in ~~that~~ ~~for~~ ~~later~~ that communities which have experienced good working relationships with government, and having monitored and evaluated the success of their participation in the outcome of projects, and seen what they can achieve largely for themselves will more readily be prepared to begin over and plan to use their ^{newly gained} organisational experience towards the identification and planning of other projects.

For such a new round of activity much will then be in place, that was not for IDSSD, and therefore the amount of time, effort, and resources for ~~such~~ involving the community will not need to be expended to such a degree again)

: suggesting ways in which the ~~technical~~ technical / social 'mix' of planning and personnel can be developed for other areas of development.

: the establishment of a programme support ~~staff~~ oriented cadre of communications staff with skills, ~~adaptability~~ (and equipment) adaptable to other programmes.

: bringing together training and ^{line} management in programmes and projects in mutually enriching ways.

: providing a model, experience and capacity for creating increasingly effective training institutes in other fields.

: providing a whole range of new methods and training skills.

: demonstrating how content and curricula is cumulatively built, developed and put together in a way which is increasingly action, rather than subject oriented. ~~and so focussed on practice rather than~~

: opening up a whole range of knowledge of local communities and the way they function and can be assisted to change, which will offer opportunities for action-oriented research which should contribute to the development of the behavioural sciences based on indigenous observation experience and thinking. (In time the behavioural sciences should then become more of an applied field than an academic one).

: providing the opportunity for a great deal of community focussed adult education in the process of village level planning.

: placing health education on a firmer footing both in content and context of community originated concerns and activities

: contributing 'curriculum packages' ~~to~~ ~~enrich the teaching in schools~~ and so provide here and now illustrations and activities which will enrich the work of teachers and the schools

On all the ways listed above the IDWSSD programme can demonstrate that not only is it dependent upon much ~~not~~ else which is available and happening in community life but that IDWSSD activities can be seen as providing many new entry points for other developments

IDWSSD is not a somewhat costly one-off affair but its pay-off and its spin-offs could be, and should be, ~~not~~ considerable in the main-stream of national progress.

INTRODUCTION

CLEAR STATEMENTS OF POLICY

Taking showed from expectation...
where Policy whose plan?

3 IDWSSD - the context of overall development

Integrated Planning

Primary Health Care / IDWSSD inseparable
Sanitation

Animals and Agriculture

Community Participation

The Underserved

Planning with people - a ~~deep~~ profound change

(4) THE SCENARIO (i) Administrative.

Community Structures

Manpower, Institutional Capacity.

5 Communications

How are the communities to hear ...?

Initial Application

The interface between Officialdom and community

Policy, Agencies, Job descriptions, Training

6, TRAINING

Job descriptions

Trainers with first hand experience

How to produce trainers

The Cafeteria Style

How to ... Guides

7, THE SCENARIO (ii) Community Planning

Community Interest

The interface / Formal Application

Surveys, Data bases - A participatory process

Self-Survey

Local Institution Building

Technicians on Tap.

7 The Community Plan — Camps.

An aid to Planning

Spy Games

Planning up later with Support down
Contractual Agreement.

8 PAY-OFF and SPIN OFFS.